FILED
June 1, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72501-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

JUDITH ELAINE MURRAY,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN J. JUHL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Superior Court on RALJ appeal erred in the following conclusions:

- Officers do not have discretion to decide which of the required warnings are given to subjects suspected to have consumed both alcohol and THC:¹
- For the reasons stated above, the [sic] Ms.
 Murray's appeal is granted and the case is
 remanded for proceeding consistent with this
 decision.

CP 6, Decision and Order on RALJ Appeal.

II. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Since THC² cannot be detected by a breath test, should the results of a breath test be suppressed because defendant was not advised of the consequences of a positive result for THC concentration in blood?

¹ This conclusion is contrary to conclusion 5, "When the officer knows that certain warnings do not apply, under <u>Lynch v. Dept. of Licensing</u>, 163 Wn. App. 697, 262 P.3d 65 (2011), the officer may have discretion to omit certain warnings, namely commercial driver's license-related warnings and warnings related to drivers under the age of 21;" and conclusion 6, "Under <u>Lynch</u> Officers may also paraphrase the required warnings, but are required to give the entire substance of the warning." CP 6.

² Tetrahydrocannabiniol (THC) is the chief active ingredient in marijuana, and the one largely responsible for its effects. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 93 Wn.2d 329, 333, 610 P.2d 869 (1980).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE INVESTIGATION.

The factual findings of the Snohomish County District Court—Cascade Division, are not in dispute. On December 8, 2012, at approximately 8:10 p.m., Trooper Gerrer stopped a vehicle driven by Judith Elaine Murray, defendant, for traffic violations. Trooper Gerrer could smell an odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle and observed that defendant's eyes were bloodshot and watery. Defendant stated that she had just returned from Florida. was tired, and that she had taken Xanax that morning. Trooper Gerrer detected the odor of intoxicants on defendant's breath. Defendant stated that she had a couple drinks at the casino. Her speech was extremely slurred. Defendant agreed to perform field sobriety tests and declined the portable breath test. Following field sobriety tests defendant was arrested for DUI; she appeared confused. At the time of arrest, the only indication that defendant's impairment was from anything other than alcohol was her statement that she had taken Xanax that morning. Trooper Gerrer's observations, training and experience indicated alcohol impairment. CP 24-27; 1RP³ 2-8.

During an inventory search of defendant's vehicle, Trooper Gerrer observed a pipe and a baggie containing a small amount of marijuana. Defendant stated that she had smoked some marijuana earlier that day. Defendant was read the implied consent warnings for a breath test. Defendant did not express any confusion regarding the implied consent warnings and agreed to take the breath test. Because defendant was not under age twenty-one, was not driving a commercial vehicle, and did not have a commercial driver's license, Trooper Gerrer did not read the portions of the implied consent warnings pertaining to persons in those categories. The breath test does not detect THC. The implied consent warnings read to defendant did not include language regarding THC. CP 27-28, 254; 1RP 9-10.

During the mouth check, the trooper observed green, raised taste buds on defendant's tongue. Defendant provided two breath samples that showed levels over the legal limit for alcohol. After obtaining the results of the breath test, Trooper Gerrer felt that

³ The report of proceedings for the December 9, 2013 motion hearing is referred to as 1RP. The report of proceedings for the July 16, 2014 RALJ hearing is referred to as 2RP.

defendant's level of intoxication was much higher than the alcohol concentration shown by the breath test. Since the breath test results were over the limit for alcohol, Trooper Gerrer did not attempt to obtain a blood test. Defendant was informed about her right to obtain additional tests. CP 28-29; 1RP 10,13-14.

B. SUPPRESSION MOTION AND RULING IN TRIAL COURT.

Defendant was charged with DUI. She filed a motion to suppress the breath test.⁴ A testimonial hearing was held December 9, 2013, in the Snohomish County District Court—Cascade Division. Trooper Gerrer was the only witness. The court reviewed the Implied Consent Warnings For Breath Form read to defendant. The warnings provided in pertinent parts:

FURTHER, YOU ARE NOW BEING ASKED TO SUBMIT TO A TEST OF YOUR BREATH WHICH CONSISTS OF TWO SEPARATE SAMPLES OF YOUR BREATH, TAKEN INDEPENDENTLY, TO DETERMINE ALCOHOL CONCENTRATION.

- 1. YOU ARE NOW ADVISED THAT YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO REFUSE THIS BREATH TEST; AND THAT IF YOU REFUSE:
 - (A) YOUR DRIVER'S LICENSE, PERMIT, OR PRIVILEGE TO DRIVE WILL BE REVOKED OR DENIED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING FOR AT LEAST ONE YEAR; AND

⁴ Defendant included a motion to suppress evidence based on the legality of the stop. The trial court denied the motion and defendant did not appeal that decision.

- (B) YOUR REFUSAL TO SUBMIT TO THIS TEST MAY BE USED IN A CRIMINAL TRIAL.
- 2. YOU ARE FURTHER ADVISED THAT IF YOU SUBMIT TO THIS BREATH TEST, AND THE TEST IS ADMINISTERED, YOUR DRIVER'S LICENSE, PERMIT, OR PRIVILEGE TO DRIVE WILL BE SUSPENDED, REVOKED, OR DENIED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING FOR AT LEAST NINETY DAYS IF YOU ARE:
 - (A) AGE TWENTY-ONE OR OVER AND THE TEST INDICATES THE ALCOHOL CONCENTRATION OF YOUR BREATH IS 0.08 OR MORE, OR YOU ARE IN VIOLATION OF RCW 46.61.502, DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE, OR RCW 46.61.504, PHYSICAL CONTROL OF A VEHICLE UNDER THE INFLUENCE;

CP 27-28, 254. The court also considered the "new" Implied Consent Warnings For Breath Form used by the Washington State Patrol.⁵ Defendant argued she was not provided with the statutorily required implied consent warnings regarding THC.⁶ The State argued the implied consent warnings read to defendant were sufficient to provide her the opportunity to make a knowing and

⁵ The "new" form includes the language, "or that the THC concentration of the driver's blood is 5.00 of more" and neutralizing language stating, "The DataMaster will not test for THC concentration in a breath sample." CP 205.

Defendant also argued that she was not provided with the statutorily required warnings regarding commercial drivers and persons less than 21 years of age. CP 194. The trial court denied the motion on the grounds that defendant was not a commercial driver and was not under the age of 21 years. CP 30-32. Defendant did not appeal that part of the trial court's decision.

intelligent decision whether to take or refuse the breath test, and that defendant did not demonstrate actual prejudice. CP 29, 192-201, 213-228; 1RP 20-29, 35-36.

The trial court denied defendant's motion to suppress the breath test concluding: The implied consent statute does not require that all the warnings be read, only those warnings needed to provide the defendant with an opportunity to make a knowing. intelligent and voluntary decision on whether to take a breath test. Further, warning a subject who is being asked to submit to a breath test—a test that cannot obtain THC concentrations—about the level of THC concentration in their blood would be confusing and is not required under the plain language of the implied consent statue. Here, the warnings that were read allowed defendant to make a knowing and intelligent decision about whether to submit to a breath test to obtain an alcohol concentration. CP 30-33; 1RP 36-38. Defendant was found guilty following a bench trial and timely appealed the district court's denial of the motion to suppress the breath test. CP 258-259.

C. DECISION OF THE RALJ COURT REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT.

The Superior Court on RALJ appeal concluded: The officer made a valid DUI stop and arrest based upon his suspicion of alcohol intoxication. The officer knew that other substances. marijuana and Xanax were involved in the case. Under Lynch v. Dept. of Licensing, 163 Wn. App. 697, 262 P.2d 65 (2011), Officers may have discretion to omit certain warnings that do not apply, and may also paraphrase the required warnings. However, because a decision to participate or not participate in the test impacts the obligations, rights, and potential defenses at trial, due process requires that the decision be made upon complete information, Officers do not have discretion to decide which of the required warnings are given to subjects suspected to have consumed both alcohol and THC. See RALJ Court's written decision (copy attached as Appendix). The RALJ court reversed the district court, and remanded for further proceeding consistent with its ruling. CP 5-7; 2RP 2-5. The State timely sought discretionary review in this Court. CP 1.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

A trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence is reviewed to determine whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings and whether the factual findings support the trial court's conclusions of law. State v. Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d 620, 628, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009); State v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. State v. Arreola, 176 Wn.2d 284, 288, 290 P.3d 983 (2012); State v. Gaines, 154 Wn.2d 711, 716, 116 P.3d 993 (2005). The validity of implied consent warnings is a question of law reviewed de novo. Lynch, 163 Wn. App. at 705; Jury v. Dep't of Licensing, 114 Wn. App. 726, 731, 60 P.3d 615 (2002).

B. THE IMPLIED CONSENT WARNING STATUTE DOES NOT REQUIRE GIVING WARNINGS REGARDING THC CONCENTRATION IN BLOOD TO BREATH TEST SUBJECTS.

Washington's implied consent statute, RCW 46.20.308, "was enacted (1) to discourage persons from driving motor vehicles while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, (2) to remove the driving privileges of those persons disposed to driving while intoxicated, and (3) to provide an efficient means of gathering reliable evidence of intoxication or nonintoxication." Lynch v. Dep't of Licensing, 163

Wn. App. 697, 705, 262 P.3d 65 (2011). These identified legislative goals must be harmonized with the underlying purpose of the warning provision; to provide drivers an opportunity to make an informed decision about refusing a breath test. <u>State v. Bostrom</u>, 127 Wn.2d 580, 588, 902 P.2d 157 (1995). The choice to submit to or refuse the test is not a constitutional right, but rather a matter of legislative grace. <u>Bostrom</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 590. The implied consent statute provides in pertinent parts:

- (2) ... The officer shall inform the person of his or her right to refuse the breath test The officer shall warn the driver, in substantially the following language, that:
- (c) If the driver submits to the test and the test is administered, the driver's license, permit, or privilege to drive will be suspended, revoked, or denied for at least ninety days if:
- (i) The driver is age twenty-one or over and the test indicates either that the alcohol concentration of the driver's breath is 0.08 or more or that the THC concentration of the driver's blood is 5.00 or more; or

RCW 46.20.308(2).

The exact words of the implied consent statute are not required so long as the meaning implied or conveyed is not different from that required by the statute. <u>Lynch</u>, 163 Wn. App. at 707 ("A warning, either in general language or in statutory terms, which neither misleads nor is inaccurate and which permits the

suspect to make inquiries for further details is adequate."); Jury, 114 Wn. App. at 732. A warning is neither inaccurate nor misleading as long as "no different meaning is implied or conveyed." Pattison v. Dep't of Licensing, 112 Wn. App. 670, 674, 50 P.3d 295 (2002); Town of Clyde Hill v. Rodriguez, 65 Wn. App. 778, 785, 831 P.2d 149 (1992). The warnings must permit a person of normal intelligence to understand the consequences of his or her actions. Allen v. Dep't of Licensing, 169 Wn. App. 304, 306, 279 P.3d 963 (2012). It is difficult to imagine how information regarding THC concentration in a driver's blood could significantly influence a decision regarding whether to submit to a test to determine alcohol concentration in a driver's breath. The RALJ court erred when it concluded that the statute requires giving the warning regarding THC concentration in blood to a driver being asked to submit to a breath test.

C. OFFICERS HAVE DISCRETION TO OMIT IRRELEVANT INFORMATION FROM THE IMPLIED CONSENT WARNINGS.

The RALJ court's conclusion, that regardless of whether the language is irrelevant, the warning regarding THC concentration in blood must be included when a driver is requested to take a breath test for alcohol concentration. The Court has rejected a similar

argument. State v. Richardson, 81 Wn.2d 111, 499 P.2d 1264 (1972) (advising driver that he had the right to have additional tests made by a qualified person was sufficient without stating that the test may only be performed by a physician, a registered nurse, or a qualified technician). "We think it can be assumed rather safely that a person under the influence of intoxicating liquor will be better able to grasp a brief statement of his rights than a lengthy exposition of them." Richardson, 81 Wn.2d at 116. The RALJ court erred as a matter of law when it concluded that the officer could not omit irrelevant information from the implied consent warnings.

D. THE WARNINGS GIVEN TO DEFENDANT WERE NEITHER INCOMPLETE NOR MISLEADING.

Trooper Gerrer provided defendant with written warnings prior to administering the breath test. CP 27-28, 254; 1RP 9-10. Except for the reference to THC concentration of the driver's *blood*, which is not relevant to a *breath* test, the implied consent warnings read to defendant contained all the statutorily required warnings for a breath test under RCW 46.20.308. Legally accurate warnings do not trigger suppression, even if elements or adverse consequences are left out. Bostrom, 127 Wn.2d at 588-589; Dep't of Licensing v.

Grewal, 108 Wn. App. 815, 822, 33 P.3d 94 (2001). "In evaluating the adequacy of implied consent warnings, the issue is whether the warnings gave the defendant an opportunity to knowingly and intelligently decide whether to take an evidentiary breath test." State v. Koch, 126 Wn. App. 589, 594, 103 P.3d 1280 (2005). These standards are met if the warning permits a person of normal intelligence to understand the consequences of her actions. Id. at 595; Jury, 114 Wn. App. at 731. The driver only needs to have the opportunity to exercise informed judgment. Lynch, 163 Wn. App. at 707. Defendant did not contend that she was in fact deceived, confused or misled by the warnings she was read. Rather, defendant argued that the THC language must be included when a driver is requested to take a breath test for alcohol concentration regardless of whether it is confusing or misleading.

Defendant has not shown that the warnings she received falsely encouraged her to submit to the breath test. Nor has defendant shown how she was misled by not including the language, "the TCH concentration of the driver's blood is 5.00 or more," in the warnings she was read. Suppression of test results is required only for defendants who were part of a group misled by erroneous warnings. State v. Bartels, 112 Wn.2d 882, 889-890,

774 P.2d 1183 (1989); State v. Elkins, 152 Wn. App. 871, 877-878, 220 P.3d 211 (2009). There was nothing misleading about the implied consent warnings given to defendant.

E. DEFENDANT IS REQUIRED TO SHOW ACTUAL PREJUDICE FROM THE IMPLIED CONSENT WARNINGS.

Before the result of a breath test will be suppressed defendant must show that the implied consent warnings given were inaccurate, and must also demonstrate that she was actually prejudiced by the warnings. Bartels, 112 Wn.2d at 889-890; Allen, 169 Wn. App. at 309; Grewal, 108 Wn. App. at 822. Washington courts have held that warnings were inaccurate or misleading when (1) the arresting officer failed to inform driver of the right to take additional tests; (2) the arresting officer stated that a refusal "shall," as opposed to "may," be used in a criminal trial; (3) the arresting officer attempted to clarify the warnings by telling the driver that her license would "probably" be suspended if she refused the test; (4) the arresting officer told the driver that if he refused to take the test. his license would be revoked "probably for at least a year," which the court found to be inaccurate because it "implies that a possibility exists that [the driver's] license might be revoked for less than 1 year"; and (5) the arresting officer informed the driver that additional tests would be at his own expense, failing to inform the driver that, if the driver was indigent, the costs would be waived. Lynch, 163 Wn. App. at 708 (citations omitted). Even if the warnings were inaccurate or misleading, defendant still must demonstrate how she was actually prejudiced. Bartels, 112 Wn.2d at 889-890; Allen, 169 Wn. App. at 316-317; Grewal, 108 Wn. App. at 822. The cases where prejudice has been found all involved warnings that were legally inaccurate. E.g., Bartels, 112 Wn.2d at 889, (adding "at your own expense" to the defendant's right to additional testing, misleading to indigent defendants); Gonzales v. Dep't of Licensing, 112 Wn.2d 890, 901, 774 P.2d 1187 (1989) (companion case to Bartels in revocation context); State v. Whitman County Dist. Court, 105 Wn.2d 278, 285-287, 714 P.2d 1183 (1986) (warning that refusal "shall" be used in a criminal trial, instead of "may" be used, misleading when admissibility of refusal evidence was uncertain under the existing law); Connolly v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 79 Wn.2d 500, 504, 487 P.2d 1050 (1971) (failing to inform driver of the right to take additional tests); Mairs v. Dep't of Licensing, 70 Wn. App. 541, 546, 854 P.2d 665 (1993) (attempting to clarify the warnings by telling the driver that her license would "probably" be suspended if she refused the test was confusing and misstated the law); Cooper v. Dep't of Licensing, 61 Wn. App. 525, 528, 810 P.2d 1385 (1991) (adding revocation would be "probably for at least a year" was misleading when one-year revocation is a certainty). Legally accurate warnings do not trigger suppression, even if elements or adverse consequences are left out. Bostrom, 127 Wn.2d at 590-592; Grewal, 108 Wn. App. at 822.

In the present case, defendant did not establish prejudice. She chose to submit to the *breath* test knowing that she could be found guilty of DUI and that her license would be suspended if the alcohol in her system was over 0.08. Defendant has <u>not</u> shown how knowledge that if THC concentration in her *blood* was over 5.00 would have influenced him to make a different choice regarding taking the *breath* test. The RALJ court erred by not requiring defendant to show actual prejudice.

F. THE IMPLIED CONSENT WARNINGS PERMITTED DEFENDANT TO MAKE A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT DECISION TO SUBMIT TO THE BREATH TEST.

"In evaluating the adequacy of implied consent warnings, the issue is whether the warnings gave the defendant an opportunity to knowingly and intelligently decide whether to take an evidentiary breath test." State v. Koch, 126 Wn. App. 589, 594, 103 P.3d 1280 (2005). These standards are met if the warning permits a person of

normal intelligence to understand the consequences of her actions. Koch, 126 Wn. App. at 595; Jury, 114 Wn. App. at 731. The driver only needs to have the opportunity to exercise informed judgment. Lynch, 163 Wn. App. at 707.

Washington Courts have declined to follow cases from other jurisdictions that presume confusion. State v. Staeheli, 102 Wn.2d 305, 310, 685 P.2d 591 (1984); Paulson v. Dep't of Licensing, 42 Wn. App. 362, 363, 710 P.2d 211 (1985) (the confusion doctrine rule presumes confusion from the driver's insistence upon counsel after Miranda warnings have been given). When a confusion defense is presented, a finding as to whether or not the defendant explicitly exhibited his lack of understanding must be entered. Strand v. State Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 8 Wn. App. 877, 883, 509 P.2d 999 (1973). The burden of showing that she made her confusion apparent to the officer is upon the driver who proposes such a defense. Id. A lack of understanding not made apparent to an officer is of no consequence. Dep't of Licensing v. Sheeks, 47 Wn. App. 65, 71, 734 P.2d 24 (1987). In the present case, defendant did not assert a confusion defense. On the contrary, defendant indicated that she did not "express any confusion

regarding the implied consent warnings" by initialing the "NO" box on the Implied Consent Warnings For Breath Form. CP 254.

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