August 14, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72501-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

JUDITH MURRAY,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Richard T. Okrent

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

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

C. ARGUMENT

The trooper failed to advise Ms. Murray regarding the THC concentration portion of the ICW as required by RCW 46.20.308(2)(c)(i).

1. A person arrested for DUI must be advised of all of the implied consent warnings.

It is illegal to drive while under the influence of alcohol, marijuana, or other drugs. RCW 46.61.502.² The necessity for

² RCW 46.61.502 states in relevant part:

⁽¹⁾ A person is guilty of driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, marijuana, or any drug if the person drives a vehicle within this state:

⁽a) And the person has, within two hours after driving, an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or higher as shown by analysis of the person's breath or blood made under RCW 46.61.506; or

⁽b) The person has, within two hours after driving, a THC concentration of 5.00 or higher as shown by analysis of the person's blood made under RCW 46.61.506; or

advisement of the implied consent is triggered once there is a valid DUI arrest. *City of Seattle v. St. John*, 166 Wn.2d 941, 950, 215 P.3d 194 (2009); *O'Neill v. Dep't of Licensing*, 62 Wn.App. 112, 116, 813 P.2d 166 (1991).

Drivers in Washington are presumed to have consented to a breath or blood test to determine alcohol concentration if arrested for DUI, but drivers may refuse the test. RCW 46.20.308(1). "The choice to submit to or refuse the test is not a constitutional right, but rather a matter of legislative grace." *State v. Bostrom*, 127 Wn.2d 580, 590, 902 P.2d 157 (1995). "A driver must be afforded an opportunity to make a knowing and intelligent decision whether to take the Breathalyzer test." *Gonzales v. Dep't of Licensing*, 112 Wn.2d 890, 894, 774 P.2d 1187 (1989).

Implied consent warnings must strictly adhere to the plain language of the statute. *Bostrom*, 127 Wn.2d at 587. Courts review the warnings provided by arresting officers to ensure that all of the required warnings were provided and that they were not inaccurate or

⁽c) While the person is under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor, marijuana, or any drug; or

⁽d) While the person is under the combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor, marijuana, and any drug.

misleading. *Gonzales*, 112 Wn.2d at 896-98. The exact words of the implied consent statute are not required "so long as the meaning implied or conveyed is not different from that required by the *statute*." *Jury v. Dep't of Licensing*, 114 Wn.App. 726, 732, 60 P.3d 615 (2002) (emphasis added). The officer must relate the law correctly and not mislead. *Thompson v. State, Dept. of Licensing*, 138 Wn.2d 783, 791-92, 982 P.2d 601 (1999). But, substantial compliance, as relied upon by the district court commissioner here, is not sufficient. *State v. Morales*, 173 Wn.2d 560, 577, 269 P.3d 263 (2012).

The validity of any implied consent warning is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *Martin v. State Dep't of Licensing*, 175
Wn.App. 9, 18, 306 P.3d 969 (2013); *Jury*, 114 Wn.App. at 731. When reviewing a decision following a CrR 3.6 suppression motion, the Court determines whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact and whether those findings of fact support the challenged conclusions of law. *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). Unchallenged findings of fact are considered verities on appeal. *State v. Lohr*, 164 Wn.App. 414, 418, 263 P.3d 1287 (2011). The trial court's conclusions of law regarding suppression of evidence suppression are reviewed *de novo*. *Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d at 249.

2. The implied consent warning here was deficient as the trooper omitted the marijuana warning required by the statute.

RCW 46.20.308(2) states in relevant part:

The officer *shall warn* the driver, in substantially the following language, that:

.

- (c) If the driver submits to the test and the test is administered, the driver's license, permit, or privilege to drive will be suspended, revoked, or denied for at least ninety days if:
 - (i) The driver is age twenty-one or over and the test indicates either that the alcohol concentration of the driver's breath is 0.08 or more *or that the THC concentration of the driver's blood is 5.00 or more*;

(Emphasis added).³ The term "shall" indicates a mandatory duty. *State* v. *Krall*, 125 Wn.2d 146, 148, 881 P.2d 1040 (1994). *Waste Mgmt. of Seattle, Inc. v. Utilities & Transp. Comm'n*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 629, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994); *Our Lady of Lourdes Hosp. v. Franklin Cy.*, 120 Wn.2d 439, 446, 842 P.2d 956 (1993) (same).

Here, it is undisputed that the warnings given by the officer did not include all of the statutory language, omitting the marijuana-related warnings highlighted above. CP 28. The district court commissioner

³ The recreational use of marijuana was legalized in the successful passage of Initiative Measure No. 502. 2013 c 3 § 31, approved November 6, 2012, effective December 6, 2012. This particular subsection was part of that initiative.

ruled that the police officer, on his or her initiative, can determine which parts of the implied consent warning will be given despite the mandatory language of the ICW statute. CP 31. In its opening brief in this Court, the State in various forms claims that this was not an erroneous ruling and the RALJ Court was incorrect in finding that it was. The State contends that the failure to advise Ms. Murray of the THC concentration part of the ICW did not render the advisement incomplete or misleading. The issue is not whether the advisement was incomplete or misleading but, rather, whether the statutorily required warnings were given. In addition, the State is correct that the trooper's advisement here was incomplete because it left out the THC portion of the ICW. The language of the statute controls here and the State's arguments to the contrary ignore well established law and should be rejected.

In accordance with the rules of statutory construction,

"Washington case law has consistently required strict adherence to the
plain language of the implied consent statute." *Bostrom*, 127 Wn.2d at
587, *citing Connolly v. Department of Motor Vehicles*, 79 Wn.2d 500,
487 P.2d 1050 (1971) (holding that the omission of the statutorily
required warning that drivers have the right to have additional tests

administered by the qualified person of their choosing renders any license revocation invalid); *State v. Whitman County Dist. Court*, 105 Wn.2d 278, 284-88, 714 P.2d 1183 (1986) (holding that officers cannot diverge from the statutory language and advise drivers that their refusal to take a breath test "shall" be used against them when the statute requires that they be told that it "may" be used against them); *State v. Bartels*, 112 Wn.2d 882, 774 P.2d 1183 (1989) (holding that officers cannot supplement the statutory warnings by informing drivers that they may have additional tests taken "at your own expense").

In *State v. Whitman County Dist. Court*, the Supreme Court affirmed the suppression of a breath test where the police officer failed to strictly comply with the plain wording of the implied consent warning. 105 Wn.2d at 285-88. The defendants in *Whitman County* were advised that the refusal to submit to the test shall be used at trial instead of may be used. *Id.* at 280. The Court of Appeals agreed with the district court's order suppressing the alcohol test:

The warnings received by the defendants in the "shall" category present a similar issue as that in *Welch*. The implied consent statute requires that the officer *shall* warn the driver that his refusal to take the test *may* be used against him in any subsequent criminal trial. RCW 46.20.308(1) (now codified under subsection (2). The defendants in this category were advised by the officer "that your refusal to take the test *shall* be used against

you in a subsequent criminal trial." The implied consent statute is worded in the mandatory sense as noted by the court in *Connolly*. Therefore, the officer had no discretion with regard to the wording he used to warn the accused. In addition, as in *Welch*, the change in wording operated to convey a different meaning than that specified in the statute. The word "may" merely expresses a contingency that may be possible, nothing more. It suggests that there is a possibility that his refusal will be used against him. The word "shall" conveys to the accused absolute certainty that his refusal would be subsequently used against him. As a result, the warning actually read to the accused by the officer contains a more coercive impact than that required by statute.

Whitman, 105 Wn.2d at 285-86 (emphasis in original). As a result the Court ruled: "We find that the defendants in the 'shall' category of cases were denied the opportunity of exercising an intelligent judgment concerning whether to exercise the statutory right of refusal. The suppression of the results of the Breathalyzer test in this category of cases is the appropriate remedy." *Id.* at 286-87.

Similarly, in *Spokane v. Holmberg*, the defendants were not advised that a refusal to submit to a breath or blood test may be used at a subsequent criminal trial. 50 Wn.App. 317, 319, 745 P.2d 49 (1987), *reversed on other grounds, Storhoff, supra*, 133 Wn.2d at 531. The statute in effect at that time stated: "The officer *shall* warn the driver that (a) his or her privilege to drive will be revoked or denied if he or she refuses to submit to the test, and (b) that his or her refusal to take

the test may be used against him or her in a subsequent criminal trial."

Holmberg, 50 Wn.App. at 322 (emphasis in original). Once again applying the rules of statutory construction, the court held the failure to advise the defendants of this warning was error:

The use of the word "shall" in a statute generally and presumptively operates to create a duty rather than confer discretion. *State v. Bartholomew*, 104 Wn.2d 844, 710 P.2d 196 (1985). Unless there is legislative intent to the contrary, the word should be given its usual and ordinary meaning. *State ex rel. Nugent v. Lewis*, 93 Wn.2d 80, 605 P.2d 1265 (1980). While "shall" may be directory or mandatory depending on legislative intent, *see Nugent*, at 82, 605 P.2d 1265, both the language and purpose of RCW 46.20.308 appear to be mandatory and we so hold it to be. Therefore, there is a mandatory affirmative duty placed upon police officers to inform drivers of the consequences of refusing to consent, and one of those consequences is that refusal may be used against him or her in a subsequent criminal action.

Ibid.

Finally, in *State v. Krieg*, the officer failed to advise the defendant of his right to refuse the test and his right to have additional testing by his own qualified person. 7 Wn.App. 20, 21, 497 P.2d 621 (1972). This Court agreed with the trial court and ordered the alcohol test suppressed:

Thus, consent is no longer an issue in this state, since all drivers have consented *in advance* to testing for the presence of alcohol. The issue becomes one of deciding whether the officer complied with the statute in such a

fashion as to adequately apprise the driver of his right to withdraw his consent. Since no statutory warnings were given in this case, the officer did not meet that burden.

Krieg, 7 Wn.App. at 23.

These cases dictate that the statutory terms of the ICW have a specific meaning and must be strictly complied with when advising one of the implied consent warning. Where statutorily required terms are not included in the advisement, or where the terms are modified, the result is the suppression of the alcohol test. Here, the trooper failed to comply with the specific terms of RCW 46.20.308, and as a result, the RALJ Court was correct in ordering the suppression of the results of Ms. Murray's alcohol test.

The district court commissioner's ruling is directly contrary to the plain language of RCW 46.20.308 and the established caselaw. The Commissioner ruled:

The first motion is that the plain language of the implied consent statute requires reading all portions of the implied consent statute including the THC concentration warnings that were in effect a few days or a couple of days before this particular stop. The court has on a number of occasions ruled that providing THC concentration warnings to a subject not being asked to submit to a test that can obtain such readings would be confusing. And that the implied consent statute has not required that all warnings are read, only those warnings that would be needed to provide the Defendant with the opportunity to make a knowingly, intelligent, voluntary

decision ether to take the breath test. Warning a subject about the level of THC concentration in their blood when they are not being asked to take a test that could obtain such information is not required by the plain language of that statute. Motion to suppress the BAC as a result of not strictly reading all the warnings in the implied consent statute, that motion is denied.

12/9/2013RP 36-37 (emphasis added).

The commissioner's ruling is simply wrong. As explained above, the statutory terms in the implied consent statute *are* required to be given. Further, allowing the arresting officer to determine which portions of the implied consent warning he or she will give is plainly contrary to established caselaw, and will undoubtedly lead to inconsistent warnings and ultimately lead to abuses the statutory warnings were designed to prevent. This Court should hold, consistent with the established caselaw that the statutorily required language in the implied consent statute must be given absent a ruling from the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court to the contrary.

3. Since the implied consent warnings were deficient, the proper remedy was suppression of the breath test result.

The State contends that even if the failure to advise Ms. Murray of the correct warnings was erroneous, she has not shown actual prejudice. Once again, the State's arguments are contrary to established law. The RALJ Court's decision was correct and should be affirmed.

"[A] showing of actual prejudice to the driver is appropriate in a *civil* action where the arresting officer has given all of the warnings, but merely failed to do so in a 100 percent accurate manner." *Thompson v. Dep't of Licensing*, 138 Wn.2d 783, 797 n. 8, 982 P.2d 601 (1999).

However, in a *criminal* matter, the "[f]ailure to give a proper implied consent warning will result in suppression of the results of the [B]reathalyzer test." *State v. Trevino*, 127 Wn.2d 735, 747, 903 P.2d 447 (1995), *citing Whitman County*, 105 Wn.2d at 287. ⁴ *See also State v. Elkins*, 152 Wn.App. 871, 877, 220 P.3d 211 (2009) (this Court citing same quote from *Trevino*).

In a recent case, the failure to comply with the statutory requirements of the implied consent law resulted in suppression of a blood test without any additional showing of prejudice. *Morales*, 173 Wn.2d at 577. In *Morales*, the State failed to prove that an interpreter correctly advised a defendant, who had been arrested for vehicular assault and required to submit to a blood test, of his right to additional testing of the blood sample. *Id.* at 568-69. The defendant was subsequently charged with vehicular assault, hit and run, and DUI. *Id.*

⁴ State v. Storhoff, 133 Wn.2d 523, 530-31, 946 P.2d 783 (1997), purported to reject the criminal/civil case distinction, but courts have continued to rely on the language from *Trevino* requiring suppression when the officer fails to give a proper implied consent warning. See e.g., Morales, 173 Wn.2d at 273.

at 565. After finding the State failed to prove that the blood test warning was given, the Supreme Court required a showing of prejudice regarding the hit and run count. *Morales*, 173 Wn.2d at 273. However, regarding the DUI and vehicular assault counts, the Court reversed without a specific showing by the defendant of prejudice:

Admission of the blood alcohol test results did not prejudice Morales in the hit and run charge; indeed, Morales did not contest that charge. The blood alcohol test results obviously infected the charge of "driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor." RCW 46.61.502(1). "Morales's blood alcohol level was per se evidence that Morales drove under the influence of alcohol." *Morales*, 154 Wn.App. at 58, 225 P.3d 311 (Bridgewater, J., dissenting); RCW 46.61.502(4). Accordingly, we reverse Morales' DUI conviction. We see equal prejudice in the vehicular assault by the DUI conviction; it too is reversed.

Morales, 173 Wn.2d at 577.

Here too the trooper failed to correctly advise Ms. Murray of the implied consent law warnings that were statutorily required. As in *Morales*, Ms. Murray's blood alcohol level was *per se* evidence that she drove under the influence, thus, as in *Morales*, she was entitled to suppression of the blood test. *Morales*, 173 Wn.2d at 577. As a consequence, the RALJ Court's order suppressing the blood test was the correct ruling and this Court should affirm that ruling.

D. CONCLUSION

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